Albemarle County Planning Commission
Regular Meeting
Final Minutes January 14, 2025

The Albemarle County Planning Commission held a public hearing on Tuesday, January 14,
2025, at 4:00 p.m.

Members attending: Fred Missel; Luis Carrazana; Corey Clayborne; Julian Bivins; and Karen
Firehock, Lonnie Murray.

Members absent: Nathan Moore.

Other officials present were Michael Barnes, Director of Planning; Andy Herrick, County
Attorney’s Office; Bill Fritz, Development Process Manager; Syd Shoaf, Senior Planner; and
Carolyn Shaffer, Clerk to the Planning Commission.

Call to order and Establish Quorum

Michael Barnes, Director of Planning, said that he would be presiding over the meeting for the
election of the Chair this evening. He said that following the election, he would pass the gavel to
the newly elected Chair, who would conduct the rest of the meeting. He said that he would also
like to recognize their Interim County Attorney, Andy Herrick, and the Clerk to the Planning
Commission, Carolyn Shaffer. He said that the second item on their agenda was the public
comment portion, which he would like to move, provided there was no objection from any
Commission members. He said that he would like to move to schedule the public comment portion
for after the scheduled public hearing, which was currently item number seven on the agenda.

Ms. Shaffer called the roll.
Mr. Barnes established a quorum.
Election of Officers: Chair and Vice Chair, appointment of Secretary, if needed

Mr. Carrazana said that he would like to nominate Mr. Missel to continue serving as Chair of the
Planning Commission. Mr. Clayborne seconded the nomination.

Mr. Barnes said that with no further nominations, he would close the nominations. He asked if
there was a motion to elect Mr. Missel as Chair of the Planning Commission.

Mr. Clayborne motioned that the Planning Commission elect Mr. Missel as Chair of the Planning
Commission. Mr. Murray seconded the motion, which passed unanimously (6-0). (Mr. Moore was
absent.)

Mr. Missel said that he was genuinely grateful to be a part of this Commission. He especially
appreciated working with the other Commissioners, as well as the staff, and he was looking
forward to closing out AC44 this year. He said that he appreciated the opportunity. He said that
moving forward, he would like to ask if there were any nominations for the position of Vice Chair.

Mr. Clayborne said that he would like to nominate Mr. Carrazana for the position of Vice Chair for
the year 2025. Mr. Murray seconded the nomination.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 1



Mr. Missel said that having heard no additional nominations, he asked for a motion to elect
Commissioner Carrazana as Vice Chair of the Planning Commission.

Mr. Bivins motioned that the Planning Commission elect Mr. Carrazana as Vice Chair of the
Planning Commission. Mr. Murray seconded the motion, which passed unanimously (6-0). (Mr.
Moore was absent.)

Discussion of Planning Commission Rules of Procedure

Mr. Missel asked Mr. Barnes to present the proposed changes to the Planning Commission's
Rules of Procedure.

Mr. Barnes said that this year, they had not made any changes or suggested changes to the Rules
of Procedure, so they remained the same as they were last year.

Mr. Clayborne motioned that the Planning Commission re-adopt the Rules of Procedure for 2025.
Mr. Murray seconded the motion, which passed unanimously (6-0). (Mr. Moore was absent.)

Discussion of committees/boards/bodies to which Commission members serve as
liaisons

Mr. Missel said that Mr. Moore had requested that he continue serving on the Rio Community
Advisory Committee (CAC) and Citizen Technical Advisory Committee (CTAC). He asked Mr.
Bivins if there were any committees he wished to serve on.

Mr. Bivins said that, if possible, he would request that he remain on the committees he was
currently assigned to.

Mr. Murray said that he was fine, unless someone did not want to do the Metropolitan Planning
Organization (MPO).

Mr. Clayborne said that he was fine to remain as-is.

Mr. Carrazana said that he had struggled at times to make the MPO Tech meeting due to
scheduling conflicts.

Ms. Firehock asked when it was held.

Mr. Carrazana said that the meeting was held on Tuesday mornings once per month, from 10:00
a.m. to 12:00 p.m.,

Ms. Firehock said that she would be willing to do it, except that she had a teaching commitment
on Tuesday mornings every fall, which would leave her without Tuesdays.

Mr. Murray said that he would be willing to do it.
Mr. Carrazana said that he was willing to consider a trade with another committee.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 2



Mr. Missel said that there was the AC44 Working Group. He said that he assumed Mr. Murray
wanted to stay on his CAC.

Mr. Carrazana said that he would be happy to do the AC44 working group. He asked when that
group meets.

Mr. Murray said that it was kind of random.
Mr. Barnes said that the group would meet a couple of times this year before wrapping up.
Mr. Carrazana said that if there was another he could pick up, he would be happy to do so.

Ms. Firehock said that she was comfortable continuing with the committees she currently served
on.

Mr. Missel said that he was as well. He said that it seemed that there was only one change, which
was that Mr. Carrazana was moving to the AC44 comprehensive plan, while Mr. Murray was
moving to the MPO.

Ms. Firehock motioned that the Planning Commission approve the committee memberships as
discussed. Mr. Clayborne seconded the motion, which passed unanimously (6-0). (Mr. Moore was
absent.)

Review and adopt meeting schedule for 2025 / PC Legal Notice
Mr. Missel asked Mr. Barnes to provide a brief overview of the proposed schedule.

Mr. Barnes said that most of the meetings on their posted calendar were typically held on second
and fourth Tuesday meetings. He said that there were a couple of changes to note. He said that
they were targeting March 18, 2025, for a potential work session on AC44. He said that the other
two changes were in November, Veterans Day fell on November 11, so they were rescheduling
their meeting for November 18. He said that similarly, Christmas Day was on December 25, so
they were moving the meeting forward to December 16.

Mr. Carrazana motioned that the Planning Commission adopt the proposed meeting schedule for
2025. Ms. Firehock seconded the motion, which passed unanimously (6-0). (Mr. Moore was
absent.)

Mr. Herrick said that before they proceeded to the consent agenda, he would like to bring to the
Commission’s attention a second item related to the calendar. He said that there was a proposed
resolution in the packet that, if adopted, would allow meetings to be continued in the event of
inclement weather. He said that according to the proposed resolution, meetings or public hearings
would be continued to the next scheduled date, rather than being rescheduled. He said that this
proposed resolution required its own separate motion and vote.

Ms. Firehock motioned that the Planning Commission approve the legal notice. Mr. Murray
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously (6-0). (Mr. Moore was absent.)

Consent Agenda

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 3



Mr. Clayborne motioned that the Planning Commission adopt the consent agenda as presented.
Ms. Firehock seconded the motion, which passed unanimously (6-0). (Mr. Moore was absent.)

Public Comment on matters pending before the Commission, but not listed for a
Public Hearing on this agenda

John Watkins said that he was a resident of Albemarle, residing in the Covesville area. He said
that he would like to speak about biosolids in Albemarle County. He said that the land that
comprises Albemarle County had been renowned for its fertility since before the modern
geopolitical boundaries they recognized today. He said that the Monacans and other original
inhabitants of this area had lived here because of the relative ease the rich land provided. He said
that the country's founding fathers had built the foundation of what became Albemarle County and
later the United States in this area because it was prime agricultural land. He said that as time
had passed, industrialization had led many of them to move away from the fields to the office.

Mr. Watkins said that while Albemarle County residents may not all be farmers, they still cherished
and valued the agrarian lifestyle and the undisputable natural beauty and allure of Albemarle
County. He said that, as a native of Albemarle, with red dirt under his nails and in his veins, he
urged the County to consider testing and monitoring for per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances
(PFAS) on land where biosolids had been previously applied in Albemarle County. He said that
the writing was on the wall. He said that in Maine and Michigan, on lands where biosolids had
been applied, farm businesses had been forced to close, resulting in the loss of livelihoods and a
significant decrease in land and property values.

Mr. Watkins said that damning new revelations about the harmful effects of biosolids sludge
applications were being published nationwide at an alarming rate. He said that the free fertilizer
had come with a cost. He said that only now were they waking up to the truth about biosolids. He
said that free biosolids were still just a false promise. He said that to curb further degradation of
the land that made them who they were as residents of Albemarle; he reiterated his request that
the County government consider incorporating testing and monitoring of lands where biosolids
had been applied and consider banning biosolids altogether when drafting AC44.

Sean Cossette said that she lived in southern Albemarle County, and she was also hear to talk
about biosolids. She said that she concurred with John Watkins’ statement 100%. She said that
in addition, she believed many of them were aware that biosolids had been receiving press
attention, including sewer sludge, which was also industrial waste. She said that one point she
would like to bring up was that it was puzzling why the rural agricultural areas were the ones
struggling with the spread of industrial waste. She said that she was deeply concerned about this
issue and one of her major concerns was the water well contamination.

Ms. Cossette said that although some testing was being done in public water systems, their
private wells were not being tested, and she believed that southern Albemarle County had the
widest spread of biosolids in Albemarle County. She said that it was particularly challenging and
expensive to test their wells. She said that she would like to see a moratorium on biosolids being
spread in their County until they had further knowledge of whether or not the biosolids had
contaminated their wells.

Kim Swanson said that she would also be speaking on biosolids. She said that as a resident of
the Rio District and a 16-year resident of Albemarle County, she had had the opportunity to serve
on the Albemarle County Service Authority Board (ACSA) for over seven years. She said that she

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 4



wished to bring to the Commission’s attention the opportunity before them in the development of
the comprehensive plan by including language in all appropriate chapters to address the land
application practice of biosolids.

Ms. Swanson said that biosolids are a treated amended form of municipal sludge that had the
high potential to be a source of PFAS. She said that as a community, they valued water. She said
that she was not serving on ACSA when the decision was made to add granular activated carbon
(GAC) as a secondary treatment to all of Rivanna’s water plants. She said that while its primary
role was to reduce disinfection byproducts, it was an effective barrier for contaminants, including
PFAS.

Ms. Swanson said that while their current water quality reports produced by ACSA demonstrated
high-quality water for distribution, they remained vigilant given the high profile of PFAS in water
systems. She said that they were fortunate to have this technology in their municipal system, but
she strongly believed that a community that planned well and valued water resources for all
County residents should discourage land practices that could contaminate both groundwater
supplies and source water for their treatment plants.

Ms. Swanson said that as an example of their community's commitment to proactive, considerate,
and smart planning, they as a community encouraged and supported through various community
partnerships an expired drug take-back programs to prevent drugs from entering their water
sources and becoming a burden to their downstream neighbors. She said that she requested the
Commission to consider adding robust language throughout the comprehensive plan regarding
the use of biosolids, so they did not contaminate their water resources.

Ms. Firehock said that she would like to make a comment on the biosolids issue. Although she
was not aware that this would be brought forward tonight, she would like to state that
unfortunately, their Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) in the state of Virginia had
significantly hindered local government's ability to address biosolid applications. She said that
they were not allowed locally to regulate the application of biosolids on agricultural lands. She
said that the only option they had was to object to the spreading of biosolids in certain areas, such
as floodplains or areas used for active recreation.

Ms. Firehock said that for example, she had objected to a biosolids application near the James
River, which was near an active canoe launching facility. She said that she had objected to the
spreading of biosolids on that site to the DEQ, and that proposal was not moved forward. She
said that however, she only had the authority to object based on the fact that it was in a floodplain
and an active public interaction zone.

Ms. Firehock said that regardless of any potential mention in the comprehensive plan, which they
could still decide later, she wanted to make it clear to the public that, as a Dillon Rule state, they
only had the authority expressly granted by the legislature. She said that they did not have the
authority to regulate biosolids, and in fact, the DEQ had tied the County’s hands when they
originally adopted biosolid regulations more than 20 years ago. She said that she wished it was
in the County’s purview, and she would personally like to ban biosolids, but she did not have that
authority, and none of them did on the Commission.

He said that the County Attorney could also provide insight on this matter but based on his review
of the issue and discussions with various individuals as well as the existing ordinances of other
localities, he believed that one of the things they were able to do was to implement a monitoring

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 5



program. He said that they could require monitoring as a condition for property owners applying
biosolids. He said that this was something that he thought they should investigate further and
consider including in their comprehensive plan.

Public Hearings

ZTA 2023-01 Commercial Solar

Bill Fritz, Development Process Manager, said that he was joined by Linds Edwards, currently in
the audience. He said that the Board of Supervisors had funded a consultant from the Berkeley
Group to work on this program, and they had been instrumental in helping them get to where they
were today. He said that their presentation would focus on the structure of the ordinance and the
unique Albemarle-specific characteristics of how the ordinance was structured and what they had
done. He said that the consultant would be able to answer questions about state-of-the-art
technology, best practices, and what other localities were doing.

Mr. Fritz said that if the Commissioners had questions, they should direct those to them. He said
that the ordinance began with definitions, which included several key terms, such as solar energy
facilities, including panels and associated equipment for producing energy. He said that accessory
solar energy facilities were small-scale installations, primarily for offsetting on-site electricity
consumption, like rooftop and small ground-mounted facilities. He said that a panel zone was a
method of measuring the size of a project, replacing megawatts or kilowatts. He said that they
may have noticed that the ordinance did not reference the amount of energy produced or use
energy production as a method of regulation.

Mr. Fritz said that instead, the ordinance focused on the land used for solar production, which
was more important than the efficiency of the panels and equipment. He said that regulating based
on production alone did not adequately capture the potential impacts, as the area needed to
produce a given amount of energy was too large to allow meaningful regulation. He said that for
example, a 1-megawatt facility may require a much larger area than expected, making it difficult
to regulate. He said that by using panel zones as a regulating feature, they could use the land
use tools of the code to regulate the impacts.

Mr. Fritz said that a 10-acre facility producing 1 megawatt had the same land use impacts as a
10-acre facility producing 2 megawatts or a half megawatt. He said that battery energy storage
facilities were typically self-contained structures housing batteries and the necessary equipment
for use and charging. He said that they could be associated with solar installations or be
standalone. He said that when standalone, they could stabilize the grid, provide emergency
power, and offer uninterrupted power for production, health, or computer needs.

Mr. Fritz said that accessory battery facilities were similar to accessory solar in that they were
small-scale, comparable in size to a shed or garage, with minimal impacts. He said that the term
"energy facility" encompassed all these components, serving as a convenient shorthand. He said
that the inclusion of "wildlife corridor” as a definition was necessary, as it was used elsewhere in
the proposed ordinance and was not included previously. He said that the main elements
regarding solar installations were that they were by right over existing impervious areas, such as
houses, parking lots, and other structures.

Mr. Fritz said that for ground-mounted installations over pervious areas, it was by right for 500
square feet. He said that in rural areas, it was 21 acres per panel zone, applicable to existing

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 6



parcels. He said that larger projects in rural areas (RA) would require a special use permit. He
said that the main elements of the batteries were that they were by right up to 500 square feet,
with larger amounts requiring a special use permit in RA and industrial areas. He said that
supplemental standards applied to all by-right projects and special use permit projects,
addressing unique project characteristics.

Mr. Fritz said that the Board may impose conditions to address these impacts, and supplemental
standards may be waived or modified by the Board, if necessary, findings were made. He said
that for example, the 500 square foot limit for ground-mounted solar may be waived or modified
by the Board of Supervisors. He said that the ordinance included regulations for height, setbacks,
screening, and fence design. He said that he would not delve into the specific standards for each
of those aspects, but they encompassed all design characteristics of a solar facility and a battery
energy storage facility.

Mr. Fritz said that based on best practices, they proposed regulations to address the potential
impacts identified. He said that next, he would discuss the special use permit review. He said that
the County had been moving away from including all submittal requirements in the ordinance. He
said that this allowed the agent to develop submittal requirements tailored to specific projects or
types of projects, taking into account the unique characteristics of each project and its location.

Mr. Fritz said that there were minimum requirements that must be met for all special use permit
applications, including energy projects, which would also serve as supplemental information to
address concerns that may arise from the special use permit. He said that they had proposed
decommissioning, and they had identified one such provision. He said that it was not entirely clear
in the ordinance whether this provision applied to all energy projects that required special use
permits, including battery storage and solar facilities.

Mr. Fritz said that their intent was to include all energy projects, but the ordinance's language was
not entirely clear on this point. He said that therefore, they would need to amend the ordinance to
clarify this. He said that that concluded his formal presentation. He said that he was happy to
answer any questions they may have, and he said that he was sure they would have them, but
he did not want to exhaustively review each provision of the ordinance, which was lengthy.

Mr. Carrazana said that regarding the last point on decommissioning, that was something he
noticed when he was looking through where the special use permit made it clear that the
decommissioning components were there, as well as how to follow through with that with
assurance. He said that however, he was unsure how decommissioning would be assured
through the by-right requirements.

Mr. Fritz said that if there was no special use permit, the decommissioning process would not
require a decommissioning plan due to its scale. He said that Linds Edwards could explain why
this mechanism was chosen. He said that to date, they did not decommission rooftop solar
facilities, and they were not proposing to do so.

Mr. Carrazana said that was correct, but he believed there was a significant difference between
the rooftop solar and a 21-acre facility. He said that the 21-acre area was actually designated for
the solar panels, which was the designated panel zone. He said that, however, as they had seen
in recent instances, the actual parcel size could be closer to 30 acres.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 7



Mr. Fritz said that they selected the panel zone as the definition was because when they explored
alternative methods, such as measuring the area within the fenced boundary, there were
uncertainties about how to calculate it if the area was unfenced. He said that likewise, referring to
the area graded would not apply to a parcel that the developer was not grading. He said that they
found that using the panel zone definition, which was similar to that used by other communities,
provided a clear way to establish the facility's boundaries and measure its size. He said that they
chose the 21-acre minimum lot size, which is in the staff report, because it is a standard used by
the County for rural areas. He said that this number had been utilized for a number of years, so
they adopted it as a basis for their definition.

Mr. Murray said that he was wondering if they could clarify the differences between the by-right
of 21-acre and the respect for the use permit. He said that he was seeking to know what specific
requirements would apply and which would not apply when they were dealing with a 21-acre site.
He said that he was particularly interested in knowing whether the requirements for erosion and
sediment control, as well as setbacks, would be different in this scenario.

Mr. Fritz said that the primary differences between the two were the minimum regulations. He
said that for special use permits, additional regulations could be imposed, but the main distinction
between a by-right facility and one by special use permit lay in the decommissioning process and
obtaining a special use permit. He said that according to the ordinance, it stated that
notwithstanding any exemptions under the water protection ordinance (WPQ), these facilities
were subject to the water protection ordinance. He said that this meant they would be subject to
the same erosion control measures as any other area of disturbance.

Mr. Murray asked if they would also require a vegetative screening.

Mr. Fritz said that the screening requirements were included in the regulations, which would apply
to all aspects of screening, height, and setbacks, regardless of whether the project was approved
by right or by special use permit. He said that all of Section 5165 would apply to a buy-right project,
except for the decommissioning requirements for projects under 21 acres.

Mr. Murray asked if they would be required to participate in the Pollinator Smart certification
process.

Mr. Fritz said that would apply for those over 2 acres. He said that this was based on the
conversations they had with the state regarding the right level to establish that acreage for a
project.

Mr. Murray said that one of the concerns was that a large solar project could be developed in
phases, 21 acres at a time. He said that it appeared that there was language intended to
discourage this approach. He asked if Mr. Fritz could elaborate on that language and its
implications.

Mr. Fritz said that the 21 acres was very much like the development rights that existed for parcels
at the time of the ordinance's adoption. He said that theoretically, any parcel that was in existence
on that date had five development rights, which were not magically increased if the property was
subdivided. He said that the ordinance was based on parcels that existed on the adoption date,
allowing for a single 21-acre area to be developed for each parcel.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 8



Mr. Fritz said that for example, if a 100-acre parcel was subdivided into two 50-acre parcels,
parcel one would receive the full 21 acres, while parcel two would receive none. He said that to
prevent abutting parcels from appearing to have a larger facility, setbacks were established based
on the size of the facility, with larger facilities requiring greater setbacks from each other, and
smaller facilities requiring fewer setbacks. He said that the ordinance's tables outlined these
setbacks.

Mr. Bivins said that he would like to ask staff a couple of things. He said that first, he wanted to
thank staff for including page numbers on the documents, as this was one of his long-standing
pet peeves. He said that on page three, he would appreciate if they could please help him better
understand the fencing on 14 and how they would ensure that wildlife could pass through these
fences. He said that while he understood the text, he was having a bit of difficulty grasping the
specifics.

Mr. Fritz said that the intent was to replicate the best standards set by the state for fences that
were either too high for deer to enter or too short for them to exit, while also allowing smaller
critters to pass through with adequate spacing at the bottom. He said that if they did not get it
right, they would appreciate feedback and revisit the design while also ensuring they were
meeting state standards.

Mr. Bivins said that a couple of months ago, Dominion had been here, discussing the possibility
of fencing around one of their facilities. He asked if they would consider adopting a similar
standard, allowing for access for wildlife when fencing in an area. He said that this could be a
requirement for commercial projects, but not necessarily for residential areas.

Mr. Fritz said that he did not know.

Mr. Fritz said that moving onto page five, where they mentioned decommissioning and site
rehabilitation, he wondered how the County would become aware that a project had been inactive
for six months.

Mr. Fritz said that they would notice that 4B required notification to the County.

Mr. Bivins said that he was aware of this requirement, but he was reminded of their homestays,
which were supposed to notify them when they were operating as homestays. He said that he
was aware of individuals who had not disclosed their homestay status to the County. He said that
he could imagine that there may be instances where individuals, particularly those with smaller-
scale solar projects, could simply cease operations without notification. He said that this concern
had been shared by residents in the Secretary Road area, should that project ever be
reconsidered. He said that there was concern among those living nearby about whether the
individual operating the solar project would prioritize its benefits to the community or simply
abandon it at their convenience.

Mr. Fritz said that this relates to the structure of the ordinance and why it was structured in this
way. He said that Mr. Bivins was correct that they would need to conduct an enforcement and
investigation, similar to what they did in cases of unreported homestays. He said that they had
included a provision in the wireless ordinance requiring the operator to submit an annual report
to confirm they were still using the facility.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 9



Mr. Fritz said that they received very few, if any, responses. He said that the administrative burden
of tracking those reports was deemed too great, and the ordinance was amended to eliminate the
requirement. He said that the assumption was that it was too valuable of an investment, so they
would continue to use it. He said that they applied a similar thought process to this ordinance,
allowing operators to continue using the technology without the need for ongoing reporting.

Mr. Bivins said that it was a reasonable approach, because it could always be adjusted if, in fact,
it was found that people were not being as forthcoming as they would like, or if companies were
not being as transparent as they hoped they would be.

Mr. Murray said that he had another point to consider. He said that they had an ordinance on the
books regarding properties with abandoned vehicles and other issues. He said that he was
thinking about applying this ordinance to a smaller 21-acre property that did not have a
decommissioning rule in effect. He said that if the property was no longer in use, they could utilize
the other existing ordinance to require cleanup of the property, specifically if the solar panels were
in a state of disrepair.

Mr. Fritz said that he would like to explore that topic further. He said that he was not prepared to
provide a response to that question at this time, as he did not have the necessary information.

Mr. Bivins said that he had another question to clarify. He said that on page six, specifically in
paragraph D and paragraph F, the agent referred to Mr. Barnes.

Mr. Fritz said that the reference was to Jodie Filardo, the Director of the department. He said that
the Director of the department acted as the agent, although the agent may have designated other
agents.

Mr. Bivins said that he wanted to clarify that they were not discussing the organization itself, as
he had concerns about the delegation of responsibility. He said that they had a relationship with
a number of ordinances where it was up to the individual or entity to notify the County when
something was amiss or there was a complaint. He said that when they began discussing the
potential removal of roads and infrastructure that had been established, he wondered how they
would know. He said that he was very pleased that it was the Director of the department who had
the ability to move in that direction. He said that it made him feel better.

Mr. Missel said that he had a few questions as well. He said that a lot of his questions had been
answered already. He said that he recalled that staff had provided the rationale for the 21-acre
figure. He said that he was wondering if they had considered the scale from the opposite
perspective, such as what would be an appropriate size for a solar facility compared to integrating
it into the existing 21-acre parcels.

Mr. Fritz said that was a good question. He said that the answer was that it was very difficult. He
said that they had received a lot of input from various individuals, and opinions were divided. He
said that some people believed that the number should be much larger, while others thought it
should be much lower. He said that based on the comments they had received, it was likely that
they would hear some of those perspectives today. He said that they were trying to strike a
balance between all the comments and find a justification for their decision. He said that this is
how they arrived at the 21 acres.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 10



Mr. Missel said that he is reviewing the staff report, he saw it included a note regarding the
comprehensive plan. He said that according to the report, the proposed ordinance had been
evaluated against the existing comprehensive plan. He said that he wondered, as they had made
progress with AC44, whether staff had evaluated the future implications of this proposed
ordinance.

Mr. Fritz said that they were discussing it and incorporating some of the comments received into
the comprehensive plan. He said that the comments made today would likely be reviewed by
those working on the comprehensive plan to determine if they could be incorporated into the
proposed plan. He said that they must use the adopted comprehensive plan for this work.

Mr. Missel said that he was unsure if his next question would be clear. He said that the report
mentions that solar energy facilities were not permitted in high-value forested areas as identified
in the comprehensive plan. He said that it seemed that he had already answered his own question.
He said that the identification, the objective piece, was that it was in the comprehensive plan.

Mr. Fritz said that the number in question was based on the recent wireless 4.1, which had been
identified as an important number by the Board of Supervisors. He said that they had borrowed
this number again and it was included in the comprehensive plan. He said that if the
comprehensive plan was updated in the future, this number would follow along, and new forest
areas would be identified accordingly.

Mr. Missel said that regarding equity, the staff report mentioned that regulations were proposed
to prevent the concentration of facilities near each other. He said that Mr. Murray had also
mentioned this, which was that multiple projects in proximity may result. He said that he believed
the proposed regulations aimed to address this concern. He said that specifically, the regulations
suggested that a landowner could not own two 21-acre parcels that adjoined each other and both
be eligible for by-right solar without a significant buffer zone.

Mr. Fritz said that was correct for by-right, but to clarify, they could submit a request to the Board
of Supervisors to modify or waive the requirement, and the Board would then review it and take
the necessary actions to address the request.

Mr. Missel said that he would like to clarify a point from the ordinance, specifically at the bottom
of page one. He said that he was having trouble understanding the distinction between the
maximum height of ground-mounted photovoltaic panels, which was 10 feet as measured from
the finished grade, and the maximum height of buildings, structures, and other components of a
solar facility, which was 20 feet as measured from the highest natural grade below each element.
He said that he would appreciate it if staff could explain that.

Mr. Fritz said that Linds could address this point as it aligned with best practices. He said that one
aspect of the elevation was to minimize the height of the bottom of the panel from the ground,
which in turn reduced the damage caused by runoff. He said that since the water had a shorter
distance to fall, the risk of erosion decreased. He said that it was understood that some elevation
was still necessary, and the industry standard for this was 10 feet.

Mr. Missel said that on page two, the text discussed accessory solar facilities, including those
mounted on roofs or the ground, subject to the applicable structure setbacks in the zoning district
where the facility was located. He said that the setback standards did not apply to parcels under
common ownership.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 11



Mr. Fritz said that he would explain part of the reason they chose 500 square feet. He said that
they selected 500 square feet because, if the ordinance allowed them to place panels on top of
an impervious building, they could build a garage and attach panels to it. He said that in the case
of someone just wanting to install panels, their research found that the average size of accessory
structures was approximately 500 square feet. He said that therefore, if they could have a 500-
foot structure, it seemed reasonable to allow 500 feet.

Mr. Fritz said that to help with siting in an area where they needed to have sunlight, if they owned
both properties, they did not have to meet the side setback. He said that however, if they only
owned one property, they must still meet the side setback requirement, just as they would for any
other accessory structure. He said that this approach treated ground-mounted panels in the same
way as any other accessory structure, with a bit of flexibility for property owners who owned both
parcels.

Mr. Missel said that he was trying to envision a scenario where they might own both parcels, and
they might choose to sell one of them.

Mr. Fritz said that the buyer would be aware of the location of those structures at the time of the
sale.

Ms. Firehock said that she had a minor question regarding number 10, which discussed the
Virginia Gold Certified Pollinator Smart Status Maintenance. She said that according to the
requirements, it must be maintained for the life of the facility. She said that her question was, who
was responsible for monitoring this, ensuring that the meadow remained healthy and thriving.

Mr. Fritz said that the state had a monitoring program, and they had extensive conversations with
the state about how they would approach approving the plans, following up on the plans,
monitoring those plans, issuing certification, and continuing to monitor those plans. He said that
the state, with their expertise in this program, would be responsible for this process, and they
expressed eagerness and willingness to do so.

Mr. Bivins asked if Mr. Fritz would be so kind as to share his perspective, he believed it would be
helpful to understand why this was being considered in a rural area rather than in a more densely
populated location like Fashion Square or Rio 29. He said that he would like to know the key
differences between that size of project and commercial solar installations, particularly in terms
of their connection to the power grid. He thought that this clarification would be beneficial.

Mr. Fritz said that one of the initiatives they were undertaking was encouraging the use of existing
impervious areas. He said that in those areas, it was by-right, and individuals could do it without
needing a special use permit. He said that by allowing solar installations by right in areas such as
Fashion Square or Rio 29, it became a more attractive option, whereas obtaining a special use
permit was less appealing. He said that part of the reason they permitted solar facilities in the
rural area was because it aligned with the comprehensive plan's focus on renewable energy and
energy conservation, as well as the Climate Action Plan's encouragement of such efforts.

Mr. Fritz said that if solar was to be a part of this solution, it needed to be placed somewhere, and
they did not consider the development area suitable for this purpose. He said that they had
invested in water and sewer infrastructure to support development, but these systems did not
consume water and sewer, rendering their investments less valuable. He said that the

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 12



development area was already experiencing strain, leading them to utilize the rural area as an
available location.

Mr. Bivins said that he believed there was a proposed project located off of Secretary Road in the
Scottsville District. He said that during the discussion, there were concerns from individuals
involved in that project about being able to see the panels. He said that however, after conducting
a site visit, he found it would be difficult to see the panels. He asked if staff could provide some
clarification on their decision-making process and recommendations for shielding, particularly
within the planting strip, he would greatly appreciate it. He said that specifically, he was unclear
whether the 100 feet was inclusive of the planting strip or if there was a 100-foot buffer before the
separate planting strip. He said that he wanted to know if it was really 150 feet or if it was a
planting strip within that 100 feet.

Mr. Fritz said that planting strips could be located in the setbacks, which is a customary approach.
He said that yes, there are also standards for plantings and screening. He said that he was not
sure if this addressed the question, but another point to consider was visibility. He said that they
had discussed this with the airport, and it was surprising to learn that airports were actually
considering placing these facilities on airport property due to their open areas, so the panels did
not pose a problem. He said that however, they did want to ensure a glare analysis was
conducted, and this provision was included in the ordinance.

Mr. Murray said that he wanted to revisit one mare point. He said that they had settled on 21 acres
as the parcel size, referencing their subdivision ordinance. He said that he thought it was worth
considering that the 21 acres may not accurately reflect the actual area required for the project.
He said that when accounting for setbacks, erosion, and sediment control, the actual area needed
would be significantly larger than 21 acres. He said that he was wondering if they had considered
starting with 21 acres as the parcel size and then adjusting down for the panel size to
accommodate a reasonable amount of setback and erosion and sediment control.

Mr. Fritz said that he had mentioned earlier that they had selected the 21-acre area and that was
how they had determined it. He said that they had explored alternative definitions of the project
area and could not come up with a viable solution. He said that one option they had considered
was to maintain the 21-acre basis but reduce the panel zone size to achieve an average of 21
acres of disturbed area. He said that determining the exact area of disturbance was difficult, as it
depended on factors such as the graded area, fenced area, leased area, or panel zone.

Mr. Fritz said that for instance, the Commission had recently requested information on wattage
per acre, which they could not provide due to inconsistent data for their older projects. He said
that if the Commission's guidance was to limit the area of activity or disturbance to a certain
threshold, staff could work backwards to establish a corresponding definition, such as a panel
zone. He said that the key would be to determine what type of area of disturbance or activity the
Commission was interested in including as a by-right point of reference in the ordinance. He said
that if the Commission was open to for example, including 21 acres of cleared area for the zone,
they could work from that point to establish a more precise definition.

Mr. Murray said that to follow up on a previous point, he reviewed the Code of Virginia and found
that it defined blighted property as any individual, commercial, industrial, or residential structure
that endangered public health, safety, or welfare due to being dilapidated, deteriorated, or
violating minimum health and safety standards. He said that, additionally, any structure or
improvement previously designated as blighted was also considered blighted. He said that Mr.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 13



Fritz may not be familiar with the specifics of the blight ordinance, but he wondered if they could
explicitly refer to this definition in the ordinance for properties that did not fall under the 21-acre
designation.

Mr. Fritz said that they could look into it, but he was not comfortable responding to the question
at this time.

Mr. Herrick said that the definitions of blight and junk in the zoning ordinance could be subjective,
depending on whether a structure was inoperable. He said that if the panels were still functioning,
but not being used, they would not be considered junk and were likely not blight. He said that if
they deteriorated to the point where they were no longer functional, the Zoning Administrator may
have the authority to pursue a zoning violation for junk or consider a blight remediation measure
before the Board of Supervisors. He said that the key factor was whether the personal property
was functional.

Mr. Carrazana said that he wanted to follow up on the clearance. He said that recently, they had
approved a solar farm that was 10 acres per megawatt, which, based on some averages,
exceeded the average of 7.5 acres per megawatt. He said that the significant difference was
largely due to the amount of clearing required to ensure the panels were not shaded by trees or
other obstructions. He said that he was curious to know if they had looked at the area of
disturbance as a measure of the impact of the project, and if so, whether it could be used in
conjunction with panel size to assess the level of clearing required.

Mr. Fritz said that it was possible that they would want to consider this, but some newer
technologies allowed for drilling foundations in a way that minimized the area of disturbance. He
said that therefore, they would need to figure that out then. He said that Mr. Carrazana saw where
they were going.

Mr. Carrazana said that yes, he thought this conversation was headed towards discussing the
size, specifically 21 acres and whether that was the appropriate number. He thought it would be
helpful to elaborate on this for both the public and the Commission here. He said that the
difference between "by right" and "by special use" was what he would like to clarify. He said that
by special use, it did not mean that they could not do something, but rather that they were using
a specific land use that may not be typical.

Mr. Carrazana said that they had approved several large facilities in the past, and it was not that
they could not do solar panels. He said that however, the by-right allowance meant that they were
now using their agricultural lands for this specific purpose. He asked if Mr. Fritz could talk about
the types of reviews would be excluded. He said that one thing that was excluded was
decommissioning, which he thought they needed to address. He said that he would like to know
if there were other factors that might be excluded from this consideration.

He said that for example, during a special use permit review, they had greater flexibility. He said
that one of the factors they were considering was whether the proposed development changed
the character of the district. He said that if it were located in a historic district or an area of tourism
where they wanted to maintain a specific view, that could be taken into account during the special
use permit process, but not during a by-right development. He said that that was the simplest
explanation he could provide.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 14



Mr. Carrazana said that he mentioned the quality of the forest, and he believed that they were
setting a threshold that they could not impact. He said that he asked how often these forests were
monitored and how often they were updated.

Mr. Fritz said that the information had not been updated in a while. He said that it was one of the
concerns they had raised with the Board of Supervisors regarding the outdated nature of that
information. He said that there may be areas within those forested areas that had been timbered
and were no longer forested or were subdivided. He said that in such cases, if an applicant
submitted a by right project, for example, they would be informed that they were within the
boundaries as shown on the map. He said that they might then request a special exception, and
they would need to take that consideration to the Board of Supervisors, who would have to make
a decision.

Mr. Carrazana said that vice versa, they could be taking out forested areas. He said that they had
a report that talked a little bit about that before the end of the year, which stated that their forests
and soils in Virginia had shown significant improvement, sequestering 40% of their current carbon
output.

Mr. Fritz said that this ordinance was an imperfect tool, but it was the only one they could identify.
He said that if it were updated, then this ordinance would align with the updated information.

Ms. Firehock said that it should be noted that updating the map with currently available data would
not be a difficult task.

Mr. Murray said that he had a question and a comment regarding that specific issue. He said that
as part of the committee, when developing that, a multitude of metrics were considered beyond
just the presence of trees. He said that he was wondering if they had considered using the term
"habitat" instead of "forest." He said that this was patrticularly relevant because there had been
significant discussion about the pre-colonial state of Albemarle County, which was actually a
mosaic of grasslands, savannas, and forests. He said that although they currently identified
forests by their ease of detection from space, this did not necessarily mean they were the only
important habitat.

Mr. Murray said that there were also old-growth grasslands, such as those he could take people
to see, which were equally important. He said that in the future, he suspected they would have
the capability to identify these from space within the next five to ten years, as the data improved.
He said that he simply wondered why they could not write the ordinance to include "habitat" as a
contiguous block, rather than restricting themselves to forests exclusively. He said that this
approach may also eliminate the perverse incentive to clear forested areas, thereby no longer
gualifying as a protected forest block.

Mr. Fritz said that the block would still be a forested block, as it would require an act of the Board
of Supervisors to change the map. He said that just because the property was timbered did not
automatically drop it from the map. He said that if someone were to clear the timber and then
request a change six months later, the Board might not be inclined to grant it due to the prior
action. He said that the Board of Supervisors had spent a considerable amount of time discussing
habitat and biodiversity areas when reviewing the wireless proposal. He said that the issue was
that these areas were not identified at the parcel level. He said that they did not currently have
this information at the parcel level. He said that if they did, then yes, they could consider zoning
restrictions for these areas.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 15



Mr. Murray said that it was worth mentioning that Big Meadows was a well-known example of a
protected public land, and it was also a significant pre-colonial grassland that they were all familiar
with. He said that given its importance, he thought it would be beneficial to avoid putting them in
a situation where they would have to rewrite the ordinance when they had better data. He said
that instead, he proposed that they substitute the word "habitat" for "forest" in the current
ordinance and then apply the new data to the habitat block when they were ready, rather than the
forest block.

Ms. Firehock said that in practice, Albemarle chose to designate those as forest blocks. She said
that these large habitat blocks could also include wetland complex systems, and did not
necessarily only refer to forests. She said that it just was a funny way that they described it in the
biodiversity report.

Mr. Missel said that he was not cutting off questions, but rather, he was inquiring if there were any
specific questions that needed to be addressed before they proceeded into discussion later.

Mr. Clayborne asked Mr. Fritz if the Fire Department had weighed in on this shift to 21-acre panel
zones as by right. He asked if there were any concerns if something were to catch on fire, such
as a lack of water supply in the area.

Mr. Fritz said that yes, they had talked to the Fire Department. He said that the issue for the Fire
Department was to ensure that the separation of the panels was adequate, allowing them to
access the interior of the property, which was their primary concern.

Mr. Clayborne asked if there was nothing about the water supply seemed to be a concern.

Mr. Fritz said no. He said that they had access to the most current building codes and code
requirements. He said that therefore, there was no concern beyond the one raised.

Mr. Missel opened the public hearing. He asked if any members of the public wished to address
this item.

Sophie Massey said that she was a resident of the Samuel Miller District near Scottsville. She
said that she wanted to combine two concepts, solar and biosolids, and add a third element,
factory farming, to illustrate the connection. She said that this was all related to industrial practices
related to their rural area. She said that today, for the first time, the Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA) acknowledged that forever chemicals in sewage sludge fertilizer, also known as
biosolids, could exceed the EPA's safety thresholds by several orders of magnitude.

Ms. Massey said that once contaminated land in their area became condemned, as it had in other
proactive states, they needed to consider alternative uses for that land to prevent the recirculation
of forever chemicals into the food, feed, fiber, and lumber systems, as well as the environment.
She said that solar may offer a solution. She said that County staff had noted that solar facilities
could significantly remove land used for agricultural or forestal activities. She said that they should
be strategic about which land they removed from these activities.

Ms. Massey said that prioritizing keeping the good land for food production, wildlife refuge, and
carbon sequestration was essential. She said that instead of using contaminated land for
industrial purposes, they should repurpose it for renewable energy production. She said that the

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 16



County GIS map provided a useful biosolids overlay, highlighting areas where biosolids had been
applied. She said that this was where they should focus on developing industrial-scale solar
projects.

Ms. Massey said that she wanted to focus on the ordinance amendment allowing 21 acres of
solar without a special use permit. She said that she wanted to share a personal story about
special use permits or lack thereof. She said that as a neighbor to the County's only factory farm,
which opened last year, she was aware of the significant impact it had on their community. She
said that the farm processed over 200,000 turkeys annually, generating substantial waste. She
said that this type of industrial-scale agriculture was allowed by right in Albemarle, without the
need for a special use permit.

Ms. Massey said that she and her neighbors were not given prior notice or an opportunity to voice
their concerns about the potential impact on their water quality, Scottsville's drinking water, or the
air quality for their entire community. She said that they had no opportunity to inquire about the
potential impact of turkey litter dust on their children's developing lungs. She said that special use
permits in rural areas were not merely an administrative burden, or extra bureaucratic hoops, but
a way to show common courtesy and provide a platform for rural voices to be heard.

Ms. Massey said that a special use permit was an act of good communication and community
outreach. She said that their suburban and urban friends often enjoyed this privilege more
frequently than rural residents did. She said that her family deserved the courtesy of advance
notice and the opportunity to speak up about the industrial operation going in next door. She said
that rural residents deserved advance notice for something as significant as a 21-acre solar
development, and they too deserved to have their voices heard.

Carol Carter said that she utilized rooftop solar on their farm and truly appreciated it. She said
that she was located at 852 Redlands Farm in the Scottsdale District. She said that Albemarle
County's natural beauty was their most treasured asset. She said that it was what drew her to this
area and was the foundation of her quality of life. She said that it was why many University of
Virginia (UVA) graduates returned to the County to raise their families and bring their parents here
to care for them. She said that it was also why Albemarle was second to Napa in the wedding
industry, which counted as tourism.

Ms. Carter said that she had previously written to the Commission and discussed the issues that
she believed were crucial to County life, including solar health, water resources, wildlife corridors,
and the local food movement. She said that the patchwork of solar installations throughout the
County was concerning. She said that Albemarle County could not be responsible for all of the
energy demands of Al and data centers. She said that many in the City desired clean energy to
be available from the County or elsewhere. She implored the Commission to listen to the County
constituents, as they must live with these decisions.

Ms. Carter said that she hoped they all had a copy of the book with Robert Llewellyn's
photographs, which highlighted what they had to lose if they did not get it right. She said that they
could not afford to make mistakes that would irreparably harm their environment. She said that
she cringed whenever they mentioned the graded areas, as decommissioning and restoring a
graded area was a difficult and costly process. She said that 21 acres was an arbitrary number,
and she believed it was essential to consider the historic and especially the scenic aspects when
making decisions.

Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes — January 14, 2025 17



Martha Donnelly said that she was a landscape architect living in Charlottesville. She said that
her core energy, emotional, and spiritual energy, came from nature. She said that the trees, birds,
butterflies, and bees of the rural countryside were essential to her. She said that unfortunately,
since 1974, the world had lost 45% of all invertebrates. She said that it was insects that pollinated
90% of their flowering plants. She said that they had also lost about a third of their bird
populations. She said that they were losing their biodiversity. She said that it was critical that they
adopt solar energy, as it did not harm the environment.

Ms. Donnelly said that moreover, solar energy could be produced while growing perennials and
grasses that supported insect proliferation. She said that these insects were a vital food source
for nestlings. She said that in fact, one clutch of chickadee eggs required between 6,000 and
9,000 caterpillars to fledge within about 16 days. She said that she asked that the final draft of
the solar ordinance be specific, flexible, and encourage solar agrivoltaics to promote wildlife
conservation.

Catherine Riley said that she was a citizen of Albemarle County. She said that she had lived here
her entire life, and she resides in Forest Lakes. She said that she was a junior at Albemarle High
School, and as a member of Gen Z, she had found herself at the center of the climate crisis. She
said that as a teenager, it can be hard to feel like she has a voice, especially in her County. She
said that being here today allows her to bring up her pressing concerns.

Ms. Riley said that climate change is an urgent topic, and they cannot preserve everything as it
currently was. She said that preservation cannot solely be about aesthetics, although it would be
desirable. She said that currently, with this crisis, preservation of aesthetics was not possible. She
said that clean energy is the future. She said that although aesthetic adjustments will be
necessary, they will still have their green spaces, forests, parks, and areas they enjoy during their
weekends. She said that however, they needed the transition to solar power to combat the almost
irreversible destruction of climate change.

Veronica Vitko said that sh